Appeal Nos. 16-CO-1061 & 24-CO-0314 Consolidated with No. 24-CO-0254



Clerk of the Court Received 10/07/2024 03:59 PM Filed 10/07/2024 03:59 PM

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

RODNEY A. BROWN

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Criminal Division Case Nos. 1994 FEL 012246 & 1994 FEL 012247 (**The Honorable Jason Park, Judge**)

OPENING BRIEF FOR RODNEY A. BROWN

* MARGARET ABERNETHY (#1655549) MID-ATLANTIC INNOCENCE PROJECT 1413 K Street, NW, Suite 1100 Washington, DC 20005 (202) 969-0979 ext. 701

STATEMENT OF FACTS

BACKGROUND

The Incident. In the mid-90s, the collection of streets around the Benning Terrace housing complex, known as "Simple City," bore witness to recurring gang violence. A749-56; 9/22/22 Tr. at 43:23-44:18, 104:6-11; 10/25/22 Tr. at 25:13-26:9. As described by then-United States Attorney Eric Holder, the violence was rooted in "settling beefs, settling scores." A751. Each act and each subsequent retribution would "feed on itself." *Id.* Relevant to this case are two gangs:

The Alabama Avenue Gang	The Tolbert Gang	
Eugene Nixon (Gene)	Roy Tolbert	
Rob Gaulden	Andre Newton	
Keith Fogle	Marcus Johnson	
Michael Wonson		
Rodney Gordon		
Michael Raymond		
Ricky Skipper		
Todd Hopkins		

Shortly before sundown on November 25, 1994, Roy Tolbert drove Andre Newton and Carrington Harley to G Street to sell drugs on 46th Place (a cul-de-sac area known as "the Circle"). A1 at 16:24-17:6, 22:19-23:20. Newton was a regular in Tolbert's gang; Harley was not. *Id.* at 21:14-22:6; A53 at 15:24-16:6; A533 at 31:18-24. Tolbert drove away and Newton and Harley walked to the parking lot below the cul-de-sac and began selling drugs. A1 at 17:24-19:20. As it was getting

dark,² a warning came that police were in the area. *Id.* at 23:23-24:2. What happened next occurred suddenly and ended just as quickly.³

As Newton and Harley were leaving the parking lot, walking toward 46th Place, they were shot from behind by bullets coming from the area between two buildings near the back of the parking lot (the "cut"). *Id.* at 26:1-27:13, 36:17-24.



1 the parking lot 2 the "cut"

[A747: aerial view of the Circle]

Both men fell to the ground. Newton was mortally wounded; Harley survived. Two bystanders—Keith Williams and Joey Payne—were also shot from behind while exiting the parking lot. A116 at 119:3-4, 126:19-22. A third, Michael Toland, who was walking with Williams and Payne, avoided injury.

The Investigation. When the police questioned those at the scene, no one could identify the shooters. Drucilla Williams, who ran to Newton's assistance

² A116 at 117:3-5 ("[I]t was turning dusk like when it's almost dark").

A116 at 119:1 ("[I]t just happened so quick."); A222 at 244:19-20 ("[E]verything happened so fast").

following the shooting, could not. A692. Nor could Keith Williams or Joey Payne, A721 (Williams); A658 (Payne), nor Michael Toland, who was running with his back to the shooters, 9/23/22 Tr. at 9:18-10:17, nor Carrington Harley who could only make out "two silhouettes." A657; A1 at 27:17.

A week later, police arrested Roy Tolbert and his cousin, Marcus Johnson, for attacking and stabbing three members of the Alabama Avenue gang (Todd Hopkins, Ricky Skipper, and Michael Raymond) outside the Eastside Club in Southwest DC. Upon his arrest, Tolbert told an MPD detective "that the stabbing was in retaliation for the shooting of ANDRE NEWTON that occurred on 11-25-94." A710. In reliance on that information, police obtained a warrant to search the residence of Alabama Avenue gang member Todd Hopkins. A696 ("While investigating the above stabbing [at the Eastside Club], members of the [MPD] received information that Mr. Hopkins was involved in the murder of Mr. Newton and that his stabbing was in retaliation for that shooting."). Two years later, when the Eastside Club stabbing case came to trial, the government argued to the jury that, prior to the stabbing, Tolbert confronted Hopkins and "accuse[d] him of the murder of Andre Newton" saying "I know you had something to do with that."

A660 at 32:24-33:17.

Oddly, another police report from the Eastside Club stabbing attributed to Tolbert the statement that "his uncle, MARTIN COLBERT [sic] ... told him that someone telephoned him and told him that 'JUNE' and 'DINKINS' killed ANDRE NEWTON." A706. Marcus Johnson, also under arrest for the stabbing, gave a similar story, stating that he was near the Circle at the time of the November 25

shooting, heard gunshots, and then seconds later saw "June" running from the area. A672. Johnson identified Rodney Brown as "June," A673, and the police later decided that "Dinkins" referred to Leonard Bishop, whose nickname was "Dink." After giving police this information, Tolbert and Johnson were released on personal recognizance despite their pending AWIK charges. A736; A738.⁴

Because Rodney and Leonard were not members of the Alabama Avenue gang, Tolbert's and Johnson's implication of "June" and "Dinkins" in the Newton shooting left an important question unanswered: If Tolbert and Johnson suspected "June" and/or "Dinkins," then why stab members of the Alabama Avenue gang and then tell police afterwards that the stabbing was in retaliation for the Alabama Avenue gang's involvement in Newton's death?

In investigating Newton's killing, however, the police ignored the gang rivalry and what Tolbert said about the attack. Relying instead on what Tolbert and Johnson said about "June" and "Dinkins," which deflected attention from the gang warfare, the police tried to secure an identification of Rodney and Leonard from the persons who had been at the scene of the shooting. Interrogated again by the police, Keith Williams changed his story. Contrary to what he had said on three prior occasions, he now claimed that he did not immediately fall to the ground when the shooting started, but looked back over his shoulder at the shooters. A758. Unlike Carrington Harley, who was closer to the shooters and could only see

This public document was not an exhibit in the innocence proceedings, but was noted for the trial court in post-hearing briefing. Brown ROA at 1891 n.7. The Court may take judicial notice of docket entries. *Francis v. United States*, 256 A.3d 220, 229 (D.C. 2021).

silhouettes in the falling darkness, Williams identified Rodney and Leonard as the two shooters. *Id*.

Seven months later, Carol Jefferies, who lived in a nearby apartment, came forward. She claimed that Rodney and Leonard ran into her apartment at 610 46th Place after the shooting (on the left side of the cul-de-sac and across the street from the parking lot where the shooting occurred), put a gun under her couch, then left. A303 at 335:7-336:1, 337:8-341:23. Two days later, as she headed to the liquor store and walked past a group on the sidewalk, she claimed to overhear Rodney say, "man, we punished them n****s coming on our turf." *Id.* at 306:22-309:14.

Five months later still, James Jones, another resident of the apartment complex, came forward and told police he witnessed the shooting and that Rodney was one of the shooters. A429 at 461:15-462:4; 433:13-438:6.

The Trial. At trial, the government relied on the testimony of Williams, Jefferies, and Jones. Its theory of the case was that Rodney and Leonard saw Newton and Harley selling in their area, had Michael Toland tell their friends to leave the Circle, and then shot Newton and Harley. A116 at 106:14-109:25; A612 at 10:10-11:9. The defense strategy had two elements: showing (1) the testimony of Williams, Jefferies, and Jones was not credible; and (2) the Alabama Avenue

Jefferies testified that Leonard was not present. To avoid prejudice to him, the court permitted testimony about the purported statement only if it was altered to suggest that Rodney acted alone—i.e., "I punished them n****s for coming on my turf." This Court acknowledged the altered statement "more clearly inculpates [Rodney] Brown" than the exact statement allegedly overheard by Jefferies. Brown v. United States, 934 A.2d 930, 941-42 (D.C. 2007).

gang was feuding with Tolbert, and thus had a motive to kill him and his associates. To satisfy the second element, the defense sought to call Michael Raymond, a member of the Alabama Avenue gang, to testify about an incident preceding Newton's murder when Tolbert shot at Raymond and other Alabama Avenue members. A500 at 733:16-734:22. However, when the government revealed the existence of an ongoing RICO investigation into the Alabama Avenue gang, A533 at 16:10-15, Raymond invoked his Fifth Amendment right and refused to testify, *id.* at 46:21-67:24, thwarting the defense's ability to present this theory to the jury, 76:6-79:25.

The jury began deliberations on March 19, 1996. For more than a week, it was unable to reach a verdict. Twice it informed the court that it was deadlocked. Not until the court delivered an anti-deadlock instruction did the jury return a verdict and, even then, not for two more days. A622 at 4:11-5:18; A629 at 60:2-4. It is no wonder the jury struggled:

Keith Williams told police on *three separate occasions* that he fell to the ground when the shooting began and did not see the shooters. A116 at 150:20-24. Only with his probation at risk (A723; A728) and after a more than hour-long interrogation with a detective who scared him (A116 at 150:5-8, 153:19-154:21) did he implicate Rodney and Leonard. Williams also testified pursuant to a plea deal that reduced his possible sentence from a mandatory minimum of 15 years to probation. *Id.* at 163:7-165:23; A686.

Carol Jefferies, a habitual drug and alcohol abuser (A303 at 376:8-378:5, 409:17-412:14), only came forward when faced with eviction from her apartment.

Id. at 372:4-20. In exchange for her testimony, the government paid for her to live in a hotel for two months and gave her \$1,400 in cash. *Id.* at 373:1-19, 375:11-19. Kicked out of the witness protection program for drug use, the government still provided her with a one-bedroom apartment rent-free. *Id.* at 373:22-376:1; A694. By the time of trial, Jefferies had received more than \$6,000 in housing and benefits from the government. A303 at 376:2-7.

Her trial testimony was also inconsistent with that of the two other government witnesses, both of whom said the shooters did not flee the area in the direction of her apartment. A222 at 218:16-219:13 (Keith Williams); A429 at 452:3-24 (James Jones). She never produced or accounted for the gun allegedly left under her couch by the shooters. And the government did not offer corroborating testimony from Jefferies' sister, who was also in the apartment. A303 at 382:17-20.

Like Jefferies, **James Jones** had been trying to move out of Simple City. A429 at 458:25-459:6. He had no explanation for his one-year delay in coming forward to accuse Rodney, saying only that he "chose not to report it." *Id.* at 485:3-25. His wife was with him when he supposedly witnessed the shooting, but the government did not produce her to corroborate his story. *Id.* at 433:13. Cross-examination established that after he identified Rodney, Jones moved away from Simple City and into an apartment owned by Willie Toland, one of the detectives on the case. *Id.* at 454:16-455:9, 459:5-6. Jones claimed this was coincidence—that he had wanted to move for eight years and used a realtor to find the apartment. *Id.* at 431:10-432:16, 459:5-20. But he did not explain why, after all those years, he decided that Detective Toland's apartment was the one.

THE EVIDENCE OF INNOCENCE

In 2020, Rodney and Leonard filed a joint motion under the IPA asserting their innocence. Over the course of a five-day hearing on the motion, they presented (i) testimony from Alabama Avenue gang members that one of their gang, Eugene Nixon, was the shooter; and (ii) eyewitness evidence that neither Rodney nor Leonard was involved.

A. The Alabama Avenue Gang Witnesses

Four members of the Alabama Avenue gang—Keith Fogle, Rob Gaulden, Rodney Gordon, and Michael Wonson—swore that their fellow gang member, Eugene Nixon, confessed to killing Newton.

The day after the shooting, Nixon told **Keith Fogle** that he "tried to get Roy [Tolbert] but he got away," so he "got his mans and them." 9/22/22 Tr. at 54:19-20. From this, Fogle understood that Nixon had killed someone associated with Tolbert. *Id.* at 54:14-55:19, 62:11-17. Nixon also told Fogle how he did it: "he said he parked down on the back of ... G Street Hill, and came up through the back, through the cut, like, by the woods, by the market. And he said he ran up through the cut." *Id.* at 56:5-9.



[A748: markings made by Fogle showing the path Nixon took]

Fogle assumed that Nixon was trying to kill Tolbert because the two had been "shooting at each other before that," including an instance where Tolbert shot Michael Raymond, Nixon's friend and another member of the Alabama Avenue gang, *id.* at 51:3-52:13, 55:23-56:1—the precise event Raymond was prepared to testify about at Rodney and Leonard's trial until he invoked the Fifth, *supra* at 7.

Rob Gaulden refused to testify at the innocence hearing without immunity, stating that, without it, he would have "to bend the truth to save [him]self." 9/30/22 Tr. at 23:13-18. Granted immunity (10/25/22 Tr. at 11:10-12), Gaulden testified that once Tolbert shot Michael Raymond, "[Gaulden], Gene, ... Rodney Gordon, and Chris"—all members of the Alabama Avenue gang—agreed to "kill Roy" and "anybody that be with him." *Id.* at 30:13-31:13, 34:5-35:4, 68:8-16. After Newton's death, Nixon told Gaulden that "he saw Roy in the circle last night," "doubled back," thought he killed him, but found out later he killed someone who "be with Roy." *Id.* at 35:17-24, 38:1-5.

Before he died in 2019, **Rodney Gordon** executed a statement⁶ in which he swore that Nixon told him on the day of the shooting that he had "rolled past the Circle and saw Roy," and that he was "about to go up there and shoot him." A678-80. Minutes later, Gordon heard gunshots. A680-81. Gordon knew that Tolbert had previously fired shots at Nixon and also that the two "had got into it ... over a crap game." A677-78.

Michael Wonson was incarcerated at Oak Hill Youth Detention Center at the time of the shooting. 9/22/22 Tr. at 157:17-158:1. Nixon called him afterward and told Wonson he had taken "care of Slim ... in The Circle." *Id.* at. 157:17-24. Wonson assumed Nixon was referring to Andre Newton, knowing that Nixon had wanted to kill Newton because of "an altercation over Nixon's girlfriend," which they had discussed previously. *Id.* at 158:24-159:14.

Marcus Johnson was a member of Tolbert's gang, Newton's best friend, and the first person to point police in the direction of Rodney and Leonard. 9/22/22 Tr. at 105:21-24, 136:1-5. He testified that he lied to police about seeing Rodney near the Circle in the moments after the shooting—and did so to curry favor after he had been arrested for stabbing members of the Alabama Avenue gang outside the Eastside Club and was facing charges for AWIK. *Id.* at 107:5-111:22, 137:15-138:5-10. He only named Rodney because Rodney had been mentioned in the

Sherrie Forester, a CJA investigator who formerly worked for the MPD, testified about obtaining Gordon's statement. 9/30/22 Tr. at 107:11-110:20.

"rumor mill going around," so he figured it was his best "shot" at avoiding jail.

Id. at 138:5-10, 145:21-148:4. On cross-examination by the government, and without knowing that other witnesses in the innocence proceedings had incriminated Eugene Nixon (id. at 134:10-16), Johnson testified that he went to the Eastside Club with the intent to attack members of the Alabama Avenue gang ("Winston, Gene, Ricky, Rob, those guys") because he believed they, not Rodney or Leonard, were responsible for Newton's death.

Id. at 120:21-122:13. Newton's death—and Johnson's retaliatory attack on members of the Alabama Avenue gang outside the Eastside Club—were episodes in an ongoing feud between the Tolbert gang and the Alabama Avenue gang.

Id. at 120:21-129:6, 135:19-136:8 ("Their crew didn't like our crew"). Two previous episodes in the feud, he explained, also involved shootings between the gangs.

Id. at 123:23-129:6.

B. Tyrone Jones

Tyrone Jones was about 13 years old on November 25, 1994. A818. He was in the front seat of his cousin's car, parked along 46th Place, when he saw two masked men emerge and start shooting. 10/11/22 Tr. at 27:9-25. Using the photograph below, Jones testified that the car he was sitting in was by the "tin can" (circled below) or "a little bit back," and that Newton fell on the curb/sidewalk just south of the entrance to the parking lot (marked by an "X"). 10/11/22 Tr. at 66:8-68:4; A757.

Prior to the Eastside Club stabbing, an anonymous caller told police he heard the shooters were "June" and "Dinkins," A702, demonstrating the "rumor mill" described by Johnson.



The shooter closest to Newton fired multiple shots at him and others. *Id.* at 27:15-22. At one point, that shooter raised his mask, and Jones saw his face. *Id.* at 27:19-25, 102:13-22. Jones was much younger than Rodney and Leonard, and so not a "friend," but he knew them through his cousins. *Id.* at 33:12-34:12. Had either been the shooter, Jones would have recognized him. *Id.* at 34:18-21. When Rodney and Leonard were arrested, Jones told his cousins (Antwan Pulliam, Juan Pulliam, and Juan Green) that they were not the shooters. *Id.* at 36:10-37:12. Juan Green confirmed to an investigator for MAIP that Jones told him they were not the shooters shortly after their arrest. 10/25/22 at 98:4-9.8

Jones also testified about a photo identification made at the request of Rodney's counsel shortly before the innocence hearing. Shown photographs of

Antwan and Juan Pulliam had died by the time the investigator interviewed Green. 10/11/22 Tr. at 35:11-36:9.

three individuals, none of whom were identified by counsel, Jones testified that "[he] instantly pointed to [the photo of Eugene Nixon] and said that look like the shooter." 10/11/22 at 32:9-33:4, 87:16-19, 106:13-107:6. Jones did not know who Nixon was or that other witnesses had incriminated him, and had never seen a photo of him before. *Id.* at 106:25-107:3.

C. Trial Court's Order

More than a year after the completion of post-hearing briefing, the trial court issued an order denying the IPA petition. This timely appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The evidence of guilt was weak from the start. The jury could not reach a verdict for more than a week, twice telling the judge it was deadlocked. This was understandable: one eyewitness changed his story in exchange for a plea deal; a second, who received \$6,000 in financial assistance from the government, told a story at odds with that of every other government witness; and a third, who only came forward a year after the incident, ended up living in an apartment owned by one of the detectives, purportedly by sheer coincidence.

Set against this shaky evidence of guilt is compelling and consistent evidence of innocence. Four members of the Alabama Avenue gang swore that Eugene Nixon confessed to the shooting. His target had been Roy Tolbert, the person who dropped Newton at the Circle that day and whose gang had been feuding with Alabama Avenue for some time; a feud that involved exchanges of gunfire prior to November 25 and continued afterward when Tolbert's gang stabbed members of the Alabama Avenue gang outside the Eastside Club as

retaliation for Newton's death. Police were aware of this gang feud and its connection to the November 25 shooting but instead pursued a lead that Marcus Johnson gave them, which he has acknowledged was false. The Alabama Avenue gang witnesses had every reason not to incriminate Nixon, who was their fellow gang member, and were content letting two people they didn't care about take the fall. Years later, with Nixon dead, and a MAIP investigator asking them for the first time what really happened, the truth finally emerged.

And there is Tyrone Jones. From only twenty feet away, he watched as Newton was shot. He would have recognized Rodney or Leonard had either been the shooter. They were not, as Jones told his cousin at the time, and has maintained ever since. When shown a photograph of Nixon for the first time in 2022, he pointed to it and said Nixon looked like the shooter, despite not knowing his relevance to this case.

The trial court erred in rejecting the evidence provided by the Alabama Avenue witnesses and Tyrone Jones as unreliable. As for the Alabama Avenue witnesses, the trial court erred by ignoring evidence that supported their credibility, including the consistency of their testimony, both with each other and with the historical and documentary record; giving undue weight to broad categorical factors without regard to the case-specific evidence; and overstating the significance of other factors. The trial court carried the same mistakes over to Tyrone Jones, relying on generic factors (e.g. his age and the passage of time), as well as insignificant ones (e.g., the distance he was from the shooter), while overlooking what rendered him credible.

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