CONSOLIDATED BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 05/06/2025 01:48 PM Filed 05/06/2025 01:48 PM

Nos. 16-CO-1061 & 24-CO-314, 24-CO-254

RODNEY A. BROWN LEONARD E. BISHOP Appellants,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEALS FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

EDWARD R. MARTIN, JR. United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB

- * ANNE Y. PARK D.C. Bar #461853 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Anne.Park@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. Nos. 1994-FEL-12246 & 1994-FEL-12247

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

had failed to meet their burden to establish due diligence (Brown RIV. 567 (Order p. 31)).²⁶

C. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion in Finding the Defense Witnesses Unreliable.

First, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in discrediting the evidence of actual innocence provided by Keith Fogle, Robert Gaulden, Michael Wonson, and Rodney Gordon, each of whom claimed that Nixon had confessed to shooting Newton. As the court pointed out, these witnesses only came forward with this evidence over 20 years after Brown's and Bishop's trial (9/22/22 Tr. 67-68, 76-81, 94-95, 164, 200-01; 10/25/22 Tr. 43-46, 50-51, 61; Pet'rs IPA Mot., Exh. 14 at 1, 8-9). Some of these witnesses justified the delay in coming forward due to their desire to protect their friend Nixon (9/22/22 Tr. 63-65, 96-97, 162-64; 10/25/22 Tr. 32-33, 40-41, 54). Given that Nixon had died on May 10, 1996, less than two months after the conclusion of appellants' trial (Pet'rs IPA Mot. at 19 n.8), the trial court

²⁶ Appellants' reliance on *Commonwealth v. Mazza*, 142 N.E.3d 579 (Mass. 2020), is misplaced (see Brief for Bishop at 14-15). In *Mazza*, the issue was whether a witness's police statement had been disclosed to defense counsel before trial. There, the defendant was able to produce "several pieces of relevant, circumstantial evidence" suggesting that counsel did not have it. *Id.* at 588. Viewing the circumstantial evidence "as a whole," the appellate court found that the statement had not been disclosed to defense counsel before trial, and thus that the statement constituted newly discovered evidence. *Id.* Here, however, whether Jones's evidence qualified as new evidence under the IPA rested on a much shakier premise. Green did not testify at the hearing, and Vick's opinion that Green's second statement was more credible was irrelevant.

reasonably found that their excuse for the decades-long delay did not hold water. The trial court properly considered the length of the delay and lack of adequate justification for the delay in finding appellants' claims of actual innocence not credible. *See Ramsey v. United States*, 569 A.2d 142, 148-49 (D.C. 1990) (noting "trial court . . . may consider the length of the delay[,] . . . any excuse for that delay, and any resulting prejudice to the government as factors bearing on the credibility of appellant's claim"); *McCray v. Vasbinder*, 499 F.3d 568, 573-74 (6th Cir. 2007) (reversing trial court's determination that defense had made a colorable claim of actual innocence based on testimony of witnesses who "did not see the murder and have not provided a good explanation for why they took so long to come forward with evidence that their relation stands wrongly accused of murder").²⁷

The varying accounts of Nixon's motive for the shooting, and the lack of consensus on something as basic as the target of the shooting, further undermined the credibility of these witnesses. Fogle, Gordon, and Gaulden claimed that Nixon intended to shoot Tolbert (all for different reasons) but ended up hitting Newton (9/22/22 Tr. 54-60; 10/25/22 Tr. 35-38, 52-57; Pet'rs IPA Mot., Exh. 14 at 2-7).

Appellants criticize the trial court for relying on *Diamen v. United States*, 725 A.2d 501, 513 (D.C. 1999), for the proposition that "[p]utting the blame on people who are dead and who can no longer defend themselves is particularly suspect" (see Brief for Brown at 21-22). But there was nothing misplaced about the court's reliance on *Diamen* for this common-sense proposition.

Wonson, on the other hand, claimed that Nixon specifically targeted Newton because Newton and Nixon were fighting over Nixon's girlfriend (9/22/22 Tr. 159-60, 177, 180-81). But none of the other witnesses alleged that the motive for the shooting was a dispute over a woman. According to Fogle, Nixon wanted to shoot Tolbert because the two men had been shooting at each other (9/22/22 Tr. 55-56). Gaulden allegedly joined Nixon and Gordon in a conspiracy to kill Tolbert in retaliation for Tolbert's shooting of Gaulden's cousin, Michael Raymond (10/25/22 Tr. 31-35, 37, 57, 62, 68, 80). But Gordon's own affidavit contradicted the conspiracy motive for the shooting offered by Gaulden.²⁸ According to Gordon, Nixon wanted to shoot Tolbert because Nixon and Tolbert had gotten into a dispute over a craps game (Pet'rs IPA Mot., Exh. 14 at 2-3). Gordon's motive for the shooting was contradicted, in turn, by Johnson, who testified at the IPA hearing that Tolbert, who was his first cousin, never gambled (9/22/22 Tr. 129-30).

Appellants assert that the trial court erroneously focused on "minor" or "insignificant inconsistencies" in discrediting Fogle, Gaulden, Gordon, and Wonson

²⁸ As the trial court pointed out (Brown RIV. 556 (Order p. 20)), Gaulden's testimony was further undermined by inconsistencies in his written statement about when exactly Nixon realized that he had killed someone other than Tolbert (compare Pet'rs IPA Mot., Exh. 13 (day after Newton's murder) with 10/25/22 Tr. 35, 37 (two days after Newton's murder)). Moreover, Gaulden provided no explanation for how Nixon could have misidentified Newton for Tolbert when the evidence at trial undisputedly established that Newton was shot at point-blank range with the muzzle of the gun pressed against the front of Newton's neck (3/14/96 Tr. 525-26).

(Brief for Brown at 17-18, 26-27, 32-33). Although this Court has noted that a trial court may err if it affords too much weight to trivial inconsistencies, see Caston, 146 A.3d at 1097-98; Stringer v. United States, 301 A.3d 1218, 1229-31 (D.C. 2023), no such error occurred here. The wildly different accounts of the motive for the shooting - ranging from a dispute over a girl to a dispute over a craps game to a conspiracy to kill in retaliation for the murder of a specific individual to a general beef between two men – cannot be characterized as minor or trivial inconsistencies. Appellants' attempts to gloss over these inconsistencies by noting that all four witnesses generally claimed that Nixon was the shooter are unavailing (see Brief for Brown at 17-18). The trial court certainly did not abuse its discretion in considering these glaring inconsistencies – in conjunction with other factors such as the length of the delay, the lack of adequate justification for the delay, and blaming the murder on a dead man – to conclude that the evidence of innocence provided by these witnesses was unreliable and should not be credited. See Williams, 187 A.3d at 565 (distinguishing Caston on ground that "none of the contradictions or inconsistencies between [defense witness's IPA] testimony and the evidence at trial [we]re minor" or "pertain[ed] to inconsequential matters that may be explainable") (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).²⁹

²⁹ Moreover, the trial court discredited Gaulden's testimony based on Gaulden's demeanor while testifying (Brown RIV. 558 (Order p. 22)). *See Williams*, 187 A.3d (continued . . .)

Second, even assuming, arguendo, that Johnson's and Jones's testimony constituted new evidence, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that their testimony did not support a claim of actual innocence. At the IPA hearing, Johnson made clear that he was not a witness to the shooting and that he had merely "assumed" that Nixon was involved in the shooting because of the ongoing disputes between Nixon and Tolbert (9/22/22 Tr. 107, 122-24, 130-31, 137, 145). The trial court did not clearly err in discrediting the assumptions or speculations of a witness. *See Rivas v. United States*, 783 A.2d 125, 134 (D.C. 2001) (en banc) (although a "[fact finder] is entitled to draw a vast range of reasonable inferences from evidence, [it] may not base a verdict on mere speculation") (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

At the IPA hearing, Jones testified that he was a witness to the Newton shooting and claimed that Brown and Bishop were not the shooters (10/11/22 Tr. 24-30, 33-37, 57, 80). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that

at 564 ("[a]n appellate court will not redetermine the credibility of witnesses where, as here, the trial court had the opportunity to observe their demeanor and form a conclusion") (internal quotation marks omitted). The court also properly relied on Gaulden's extensive criminal history as a factor in concluding that his testimony was incredible (Brown RIV. 558 (Order p. 22)). *See Sherer v. United States*, 470 A.2d 732, 738 (D.C. 1983) ("The general credibility of a witness can be impeached by evidence that the witness has been convicted of a crime punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of a year, or of a crime involving dishonesty or false statement regardless of the punishment.") (citing D.C. Code § 14-305).

Jones's testimony was "entitled to little weight" and was "of little value" (Brown RIV. 567 (Order p. 31)). The IPA hearing was the first time Jones had testified about the shooting he had allegedly witnessed almost 30 years ago when he was around 12 years old (10/11/22 Tr. 24, 43, 97). Jones also had never reported what he had observed that evening to law enforcement (10/11/22 Tr. 37-38, 60-61, 92, 98-99). The trial court could reasonably discount Jones's claims given Jones's lengthy delay in coming forward with this evidence. *See Valdez v. United States*, 320 A.3d 339, 363-66 & n.56 (D.C. 2024) (witness's three-year delay in reporting defendant's confession left "implication that her belated account of his murder confession might have been a fabrication"); *Bangura v. United States*, 248 A.3d 119, 125 (D.C. 2021) (Bangura's unexplained delay in asserting his ineffectiveness claim "substantially diminished its credibility").

Furthermore, the trial court correctly concluded that Jones's "identification" of Nixon was wholly unreliable, given that the identification procedure was conducted almost 30 years after the November 1994 murder. "[F]actors to be considered in determining the reliability of an identification include (1) the witness's

 $^{^{30}}$ In 2011, approximately 17 years after the murder, Jones provided a sworn statement to Brown's investigator, Ronetta Johnson (Pet'rs IPA Mot., Exh. 10; 10/11/22 Tr. 41-43, 86-91). It was the first time Jones had given a written account of his observations of the Newton murder (10/11/22 Tr. 86). In this affidavit, Jones did not provide a description of the shooter (10/11/22 Tr 86-87).

opportunity to observe the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (2) the degree of attention the witness paid to the perpetrator, (3) the accuracy of any prior descriptions of the perpetrator provided by the witness, (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the time of the identification, and (5) the lapse in time between the crime and the identification procedure." Long v. United States, 156 A.3d 698, 707 (D.C. 2017) (citing *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 199-200 (1972)). Here, even if Jones had ample opportunity to observe the shooter, the almost 30-year lapse in time between the murder and the identification procedure would render his identification of Nixon unreliable. See Morales v. United States, 248 A.3d 161, 177 (D.C. 2021) ("The longer the gap in time between the sighting and the identification procedure, the better the opportunity to observe must be to provide any assurance of reliability."); Biggers, 409 U.S. at 201 ("a lapse of seven months . . . would be a seriously negative factor in most cases").

D. The Trial Court Properly Weighed the Weaknesses of the Government's Trial Evidence Against the Defense Evidence of Innocence.

Appellants assert that the trial court erred in failing to critically weigh the defense evidence of innocence against the weaknesses in the government's trial evidence (Brief for Brown at 37-39, 44-48). The record belies appellants' claim.

The trial court explicitly stated in its 51-page order that it had considered both the evidence presented by the defense at the IPA hearing "as a whole" and the

"weaknesses in the government's trial evidence highlighted both at trial and during these IPA proceedings" (Brown RIV. 585, 587 (Order p. 49, 51)). Only after doing so did the court conclude that the defense evidence of innocence was outweighed by the government's compelling trial evidence, in particular the testimony of the three independent eyewitnesses (Keith Williams, Carol Jeffries, and James Jones) who knew Brown and Bishop and implicated them in Newton's murder (Brown RIV. 585-87 (Order pp. 49-51)). Moreover, the trial court specifically discussed the weaknesses in the testimony of these three trial eyewitnesses (Brown RIV. 541-42, 544-45, 585-86 (Order pp. 5-6, 8-9, 36, 49-50)), as well as the IPA evidence (Brown RIV. 551-85 (Order pp. 15-49)).

Given the record here, appellants' reliance on *Caston* and *Faltz v. United States*, 318 A.3d 338 (D.C. 2024), is misplaced. In *Caston*, the trial court did not discuss the weaknesses in the government's trial evidence at all in evaluating the strength of the defendant's IPA motion. *See Caston*, 146 A.3d at 1099-1100 ("[I]t was incumbent on the court to at least consider the potential weaknesses in the government's case that appellant cited in his IPA papers."). Likewise, in *Faltz*, the trial court did not "fully grapple" with the other ample evidence of innocence that the defendant had presented beyond his own testimony, and thus this Court remanded the case for "further analysis of the totality of the evidence that [the defendant had] presented in his IPA claim." *Faltz*, 318 A.3d at 349-50.

Although Brown and Bishop may disagree on how much weight the trial court placed on the weaknesses in the government's trial evidence in relation to the defense IPA evidence of innocence, it is ultimately the "fact finder's prerogative to weigh the evidence." Simms v. United States, 244 A.3d 213, 217 (D.C. 2021); accord Parker v. United States, 254 A.3d 1138, 1150 (D.C. 2021) ("Where, as here, a trial judge presided over [a] factfinding hearing and was able to observe and assess the demeanor of the witnesses, we take care to avoid usurp[ing] the prerogative of the judge, as the trier of fact, to determine credibility and weigh the evidence.") (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). This Court should therefore accord "due deference" to the trial judge's weighing of the evidence. Simms, 254 A.3d at 1150.

II. The Trial Court Properly Denied Appellants' Joint Motion for Discovery Under the IPA.

Brown and Bishop contend that the trial court erred in denying their discovery request for Detective Rice's disciplinary file (Brief for Bishop at 17-22). They are mistaken.

A. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles

The IPA permits defendants to request post-trial discovery only "to the extent that, the judge, in the exercise of the judge's discretion and for good cause shown, grants leave to do so, but not otherwise." D.C. Code § 22-4135(e)(4).

"This [C]ourt reviews denials of post-trial discovery motions under an abuse of discretion standard." (Kevin) Smith v. United States, 686 A.2d 537, 551 (D.C. 1996) (citing Gibson v. United States, 566 A.2d 473, 478 (D.C. 1989)). "In exercising its discretion in ruling on a discovery request, the trial court must not act arbitrarily or willfully but with regard to what is right and equitable under the circumstances and the law, and directed by the reason and conscience of the judge to a just result." Gibson, 566 A.2d at 478 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). "Courts may use suitable discovery procedures, civil or criminal, to aid in disposing of post-trial motions for discovery." (Kevin) Smith, 686 A.2d at 551.

B. Discussion

Appellants requested the disciplinary file of MPD Detective Rice to determine whether "he ha[d] a history of misconduct" related to witness coercion that would support the defense theory that Keith Williams and Marcus Johnson³¹

2

Although appellants claimed in their joint discovery motion that Detective Rice coerced Johnson into identifying them as the shooters, the record belies their assertions. In both his December 1, 1994, statement to the police, and his testimony at the IPA hearing, Johnson made clear that Detective Rice and the other detectives had treated him fairly and that no one had promised him anything in exchange for his statement (Brown RIV. 167-69 (Gov't Post-Hearing Br., Gov't Exh. 3); 9/22/22 Tr. 139-41). Indeed, appellants do not develop any legal argument on appeal as to the relevance of Detective Rice's personnel record with respect to Johnson's testimony, and have abandoned that claim. *See Bardoff v. United States*, 628 A.2d 86, 90 n.8 (D.C. 1993) (where "[a]ppellants provide no supporting argument in their brief for [a] general assertion . . . we consider [it] to be abandoned").

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